OA 12.5-96 047

F]]	LE	ED
/	SID	J. WHIT	re.
	SEP	30	1996

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 88,609

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CECIL LANE, DEWEY E. DESTIN, JR., BUDDY BROWN, JULIE A. RUSSELL, and MIKE DAVIS,

Appellants,

- AGAINST -

LAWTON M. CHILES, as Governor of the State of Florida; ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH, as Attorney General of the State of Florida; and the FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION,

Appellees.

On Certified Judgment from the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Leon County, Florida Case No. 95-2972

INITIAL BRIEF FOR APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from a final summary judgment of the circuit court upholding the constitutionality of article X, section 16, Florida Constitution.

In November 1994, article X, section 16 was adopted through an initiative constitutional amendment petition. Prior to the amendment's effective date, the Appellants, five individuals engaged in the business of commercial net fishing, filed suit for a declaration that article X, section 16, Florida Constitution, is unconstitutional on a variety of grounds, and void because of violations of statutory ballot summary requirements. Appellants requested, but were denied, temporary injunctive relief to stay implementation of the amendment prior to its July 1, 1995 effective date. On May 28, 1996, the trial court denied Appellants' motion for summary judgment on the complaint for permanent injunction and declaratory relief and issued summary judgment for the state, finding that the amendment was constitutional and did not violate ballot summary requirements.

On a timely notice of appeal to the First District Court of Appeal, with a suggestion for certification directly to this Court for resolution of issues of great public importance in need of immediate resolution, the district court directly certified the judgment of the trial court, and on September 9, 1996, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

The parties stipulated to many facts, <u>see</u> R. Vol. V, pp. 755-761, and any other facts in the record are either not in dispute or are not material. The instant appeal presents only

issues of law, namely: whether article X, section 16, Florida Constitution should be invalidated because it violates Appellants' right to due process of law and equal protection, and whether it should be invalidated for failure to comply with ballot summary requirements.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The court has previously indicated that a constitutional amendment adopted by initiative should not receive deferential scrutiny because it has not proceeded through the checks and balances of review by the legislative and executive branches of government. Fine v. Firestone, 448 So. 2d 984 (Fla. 1984).

The content of the Net Ban amendment is legislative, does not govern the conduct of government, as do other constitutional provisions, and is not in harmony with the fundamental nature of the constitution as a document of lasting principles. Instead, it governs the conduct of a distinct occupational minority of private citizens, commercial fishermen. The judicial branch is the only branch of government which will have any opportunity to protect the minority rights addressed in the amendment and heightened judicial scrutiny is required. In fact, if the courts are unwilling to protect the legislative interests of a minority victimized by the manipulation of the initiative constitutional amendment process, there will be no institutional bar to the tyranny of the majority.

The amendment violates the due process rights of the Appellants. The Florida constitution accords protection to both liberty and property rights taken without due process of law.

Art. I, § 2, and Art. I, § 9, Fla. Const. These rights are also protected by the fifth and fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution.

TO justify interference with personal rights and liberties, a penal statute must confine itself to that which is expedient for the protection of public health, safety, and welfare. Interference with private rights must be justified as a **necessary**means of accomplishing the state's objective, and the government act must bear a reasonable and substantial relationship to the purpose to be attained. The government must use means that are the least restrictive on the exercise of personal rights.

If there is a choice of ways in which government can reasonably attain a valid goal necessary to the public interest, it must elect that course which will infringe the least on the rights of the individual.

State v. Leone, 118 So. 2d 781, 784-85 (Fla. 1960).

Pursuit of a lawful business or occupation is constitutionally protected and may not be prohibited unless justified by exceptional circumstances. Only <u>reasonable</u> regulations on a business or occupation may be imposed in order to protect the public welfare. Article X, section 16 is not narrowly tailored and unreasonably curtails Appellants' occupations as commercial net fishermen. The amendment's ban on the use of gill and entangling nets, and the size restriction as to all other nets, destroys occupations.

Individuals engaged in the commercial mullet fishery have been hardest hit because they relied almost exclusively on the use of gill and entangling nets for their trade. R. Vol. V, p. 759; R. Vol. II, p. 296. Additionally, purse seine fishermen have seen the

elimination of their trade because the amendment effectively bans purse seines in nearshore fisheries. R. Vol. II, p. 292.

Article X, section 16 is further overreaching and intrusive because it regulates the conduct of a select group of private citizens in a legislative way; yet, it is immutable. Even if current conditions could be viewed as requiring a ban on certain nets, the amendment cannot be amended or repealed in the future if conditions warrant a loosening of restrictions. The only way to loosen restrictions to meet future conditions will be another constitutional amendment which repeals article X, section 16.

Property is said to have been taken if the owner is deprived of the economically viable use of it by government restriction. Article X, section 16 is unconstitutional because it deprives Appellants of the economically viable use of their property, yet provides no mechanism for just compensation. The prohibition on the use of gill and entangling nets, and the effective prohibition on the use of purse seines,¹ renders these nets useless. R. Vol. II, p. 292. It is a violation of due process for the state to circumvent eminent domain proceedings by regulating private property to the point of economic uselessness unless the state has provided a fair mechanism for predeprivation compensation.

Under the Florida Constitution, an act of the legislature which deprives a person of equal protection and impinges on

¹ Purse seines are designed for inshore fishing and cannot be used in deeper waters, R. Vol. V, p. 650, and state statutes prevent the use of purse seines to capture food fish. 370.08(3), Florida Statutes (1995).

fundamental constitutional rights flowing either from the federal or Florida Constitution is invalid. The constitutional right to be rewarded for industry is such a fundamental right. The inalienable right to enjoy and defend life and liberty, to pursue happiness, and to acquire, possess and protect property are entitled to no less protection.

The amendment does not equally burden recreational and commercial saltwater fishermen because prior to the amendment <u>only</u> individuals who held a commercial saltwater fishing license were legally permitted to use the nets affected by the amendment. <u>See</u> Section 370.06, Florida Statutes; Rule 46-4.0085, F.A.C. (1995). The amendment also unfairly divides commercial fishermen into two classes: those that work on the east coast and those that work on the west coast.

Section 101.161(1), Florida Statutes, mandates that every constitutional amendment submitted to popular vote "be printed in clear and unambiguous language . . . [with] an explanatory statement . . . of the chief purpose of the measure." The ballot title and summary must "give the voter fair notice of the decision he must make." <u>Askew v. Firestone</u>, 421 So. 2d 151, 155 (Fla. 1982).

This Court reviewed article X, section 16, Florida Constitution, pursuant to a request from the Attorney General, for violations of ballot summary requirements under section 101.161(1). <u>Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General - Limited Marine Net</u> <u>Fishing</u>, 620 So. 2d 997. The Court's opinion was only advisory and is not binding precedent. <u>See Fla. League of Cities v. Smith</u>, 607

So. 2d 397, 399 n.3 (Fla. 1992). The only notification to affected parties of the Court's review of this amendment's ballot summary was that provided by the Attorney General to the initiative petition's proponents and the Secretary of State. § 16.061, Fla. Stat. The only notice to the public of the Court's review was a small notice in the Florida Bar News. R. Vol. I, p. 76.

Appellants and other commercial fishermen were substantially affected parties who were known to the state because they held state licenses which enabled them to use nets affected by the amendment. Appellants and their advocates were unaware that they could file briefs on the issues and appear before the Court. In the interest of fairness, Appellants should not now be precluded from presenting this Court with evidence of serious deficiencies in the ballot summary.

Ballot summary deficiencies are ripe for challenge even after a proposed measure is adopted because an affirmative vote does not cure the failure of the ballot summary to fully and fairly inform voters. <u>Wadhams v. Bd, of County Commissioners</u>, 567 So. 2d 414, 416 (Fla. 1990).

It is critical to a fair vote on an initiative proposal that a ballot summary not omit information which would inform voters of the full sweep of an amendment. The ballot summary for article X, section 16, Florida Constitution omitted information necessary to adequately inform voters and was seriously deficient in six ways: it did not inform voters that pervasive regulations governing fishing nets already existed; it did not inform voters that the SOcalled limitation on non-entangling nets constituted a ban on the

use of purse seines; it did not inform voters that the commercial mullet fishery would be eliminated; it did not inform voters that fishermen on the east coast of Florida would be treated differently than fishermen on the west coast; it did not inform voters that commercial fishing property would be taken, requiring public compensation; and it did not inform voters that the amendment regulated only currently licensed commercial fishermen, yet benefited private fishermen.

I. ARTICLE X, SECTION 16, FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, IS AN IMPROPER MEANS OF REGULATING THE BEBAVIOR OF A MINORITY OF CITIZENS

The passage of article X, section 16, Florida Constitution, commonly referred to as the "Net ban," marks a pivotal point for all Florida citizens: will we live by a constitution that protects individual freedoms, and protects us all against majority tyranny, or will we live by a document that is a tool for the manipulation of special interests to tyrannize the minority? The passage of article X, section 16 marks the first time since Florida's adoption of the constitutional initiative² that the constitution has become the handmaiden of a special interest to legislate the behavior of a minority of private citizens.

The inclusion in the constitution of a measure which directs the behavior, not of government, but of a select group of private citizens, is a measure which deserves serious scrutiny by the Court.

² Article XI, section 3, Florida Constitution.

In the past, the Court has expressed concern that a proposal by initiative requires very careful, if not strict, scrutiny. In <u>Fine v. Firestone</u>, 448 So. 2d 984 (Fla. 1984), the Court reviewed an initiative proposal to determine whether it violated the single subject requirement of article XI, section 3, Florida Constitution. The Court had previously viewed the single subject requirement for constitutional initiatives under the same deferential scrutiny provided for review of the single subject requirement for legislative acts (article III, section 6, Florida Constitution).³ In <u>Fine</u> the Court receded from its prior decisions and held that constitutional initiatives deserve greater scrutiny than legislative acts when being reviewed for single subject violations.⁴ 448 So. 2d at 988, 989. The Court stated that it

should take a broader view of the legislative provision because any proposed law must proceed through legislative debate and public hearing. Such a process allows change in the content of any law before its adoption. This process is, in itself, a restriction on the drafting of a proposal which is not applicable to the scheme for constitutional revision or amendment by initiative.

<u>Id.</u> at 989.

The same principles of judicial review should apply to the review of article X, section 16. In fact, the legislative nature of article X, section 16 and its regulation of a discreet group

⁴ In a concurring opinion, Justice McDonald asserted his belief that initiative petitions deserved strict scrutiny. 448 So. 2d at 995.

³ <u>See Floridians Against Casino Takeover v. Let's Help Florida</u>, 363 So. 2d 337 (Fla. 1978).

of individuals should mandate even higher scrutiny than was used in <u>Fine</u>.

Justice Shaw articulated the reason for heightened scrutiny of constitutional initiatives in his concurrence in Fine, saying that "the citizens' initiative method of amending the constitution deserves particular care because it does not have the structural safeguards which are built into the other three methods [of amending the constitution]." 448 So. 2d at 999.

Had the content of article X, section 16 gone through the normal legislative process, there would have been a myriad of checks and balances to protect the interests of commercial fishermen. All three branches of government would have been involved. <u>See</u> Art. III, Fla. Const. (requiring public sessions; publication of a journal of proceedings; public committee meetings; compulsory attendance of witnesses, production of documents, and other investigative tools; majority vote in each legislative house prior to bill passage; and presentment of bill to the Governor for adoption or veto). Even the other three methods of amending the Florida Constitution have various checks and balances which must precede a proposal's preparation and submission for vote.⁵ None of these protections are afforded

⁵ <u>See</u> Article XI, section 1 (amendment may be proposed by joint resolution agreed to by three-fifths of the membership of each house of the legislature); Article XI, section 2 (amendments and revisions can be proposed every ten years by a constitutional revision commission composed of members of all three branches of government in conjunction with public hearings); and Article XI, section 4 (constitutional convention can be convened to revise the entire constitution, which convention shall include a representative from every district to consider and propose revisions).

affected groups prior to an initiative constitutional amendment being adopted. <u>See</u> Art. XI, § 3, Fla. Const. Here, only one branch of the equal branches of government may serve to protect minority interests.

The only safeguards provided prior to the adoption of an initiative in Florida are that the initiative not embrace more than one subject and matter directly connected therewith, <u>id.</u>, and that the ballot summary and title for the proposal fairly inform voters of the proposal's purpose and ramifications, section 101.161(1), Florida Statutes. Several supreme court justices have expressed their belief that these "technical" checks are inadequate to prevent abuse of the initiative process. <u>Advisory Op. To Attorney General - Limited Marine Net Fishing</u>, 620 So. 2d 997 (Fla. 1993)(McDonald, J., Barkett, C.J., and Overton and Kogan, JJ., concurring). It is precisely the lack of adequate checks and balances on initiative proposals that justify a very careful post-adoption review of this amendment by the court .

It is the Court's right and duty to heavily scrutinize article X, section 16. When reviewing a statute, the Court shows due deference because the statute is proposed, considered and adopted by one or more of the equal branches of government, and only the legislature has specific constitutional authority to legislate.⁶ The Court has a measure of reassurance based on the

⁶ Article III, section 1, Florida Constitution. <u>See also</u> <u>Fraternal Order of Police v. Dept. of State</u>, 392 So. 2d 1296 (Fla. 1980)(refusing to apply rigorous standard of review for fear of usurping legislative prerogative to establish policy).

multiple safeguards attendant to legislation which are not attendant to proposals by initiative. <u>See e.q.</u> David B. Magleby, <u>Direct Legislation: Voting On Ballot Propositions in the United States</u>, 186-188 (1984)(acts of legislatures are subject to multiple reviews, committee analyses, and lobbying, and the legislative process is generally flexible and adaptive, whereas initiatives are typically the result of snap judgments based on emotional appeals through television broadcasts).

Article X, section 16 also deserves heightened scrutiny because it exercises a power specifically granted to the legislature: the power to make, amend and repeal laws. Art. III, § 1, Fla. Const. Although the people have the right under article XI, section 3, Florida Constitution, to propose amendments to the constitution, no specific grant of authority to propose legislation by initiative is provided. Moreover, implicit in the right to amend the constitution is the basic requirement that an amendment conform to the purpose and function of the constitution. See e.q. Advisory Op. to Attorney General -Restricts Laws Related to Discrimination, 632 So. 2d 1018, 1022 (Fla. 1994) (Kogan, J., concurring) ("[t]he various parts of the Constitution require a harmony of purpose both internally and within the broader context of the American federal system and Florida law itself."). This requires that amendments be in harmony with, and not in opposition to, the fundamental nature of the constitution as a document of lasting principles.

Legislation is not congruous with the function or purpose of the state constitution and is an inappropriate addition to the

constitution. <u>See Limited Marine Net Fishing</u>, 620 So. 2d at 1000 (McDonald, J., Barkett, C.J., Overton and Kogan, JJ., concurring)(the constitution should transcend time and social mores for the protection of all individuals, whereas statutes provide a specific set of legal rules for how individuals ought to behave, are easier to amend, and are adaptable to society's political, economic, and social changes). <u>See also</u> Talbot D'Alemberte, <u>The Florida State Constitution</u>, <u>A Reference Guide</u>, 12; 17 (G. Alan Tarr, series ed. 1991)(the purpose of the Constitution is to limit the power of <u>qovernment</u> over individuals, and it is generally agreed that the state constitution is an inappropriate forum for legislation)(emphasis added).⁷

Unwanted and lasting consequences will result from judicial acceptance of special interest legislation as additions to the state constitution without subject matter scrutiny. Without the intervention of the courts, the <u>only</u> branch of government with a role in the constitutional initiative process, where does special interest legislating by constitutional initiative stop?

Suppose the broadcast media proposed and funded a constitutional amendment initiative campaign to prohibit any publication from being distributed in Florida on more than 600 square inches of paper a day. This meets a rational basis police power test because it protects the state's timber resources. It does not represent a restraint on media content and thus is not

⁷ <u>And see</u>, The Senate Committee on Governmental Reform and Oversight, <u>A Review of the Citizen Initiative Method of Proposing</u> <u>Amendments to the Florida Constitution</u>, 11 (1995).

violative of the first amendment. <u>Tampa Times Co. v. Citv of</u> <u>Tampa, 29 So. 2d 368 (Fla.), appeal dismissed, 332 U.S. 749</u> (1947). It does not burden a race, nationality, ethnic group or gender in a disproportionate way. It does not "take" printing presses and newspaper vending machines.

All it does is put every daily newspaper in Florida out of business and render its property commercially worthless because none can survive economically on a one page per day basis. could it happen? Journalists usually enjoy a public approval rating roughly equal to lawyers, politicians and used car salesmen. Few public minded citizens would be unmoved at the sight on the proponent's television ad of forests daily being cut down to feed the hungry maw of newsprint consumption. Would the amendment meet state constitutional muster? It would, if the state is correct that only single subject and ballot summary issues are within the purview of any branch of government regarding its obligations to protect an occupational minority.

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