#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Florida Conservation Association accepts the statement of the case by Appellants. Because the appeal properly presents only issues of law, the factual references are not material to the issues.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ISSUES**

In their **Brief**, Appellants have taken the position that there are essentially two problems with Article **X**, Section **16** of the Florida Constitution which, they contend, that this Court should use as a **basis** to invalidate and overturn this provision of the Florida Constitution. They contend first that the Amendment, now part of the Florida Constitution should be declared invalid because the ballot summary failed to meet the legal requirements set forth under Florida law (Chapter **101**, Fla. Statutes). **As** will be shown below, this argument fails. The second argument advanced is that Article **X**, Section **16** of the Florida Constitution is violative of equal protection, due process and other provisions and rights set forth under the Florida and Federal Constitutions. Likewise, this argument, **is** not supported by applicable law. Additionally, although Appellants have properly characterized this **appeal** a being purely on issues of law, their arguments are replete with factual contentions which are unsupported by the record.

a

## I. <u>APPELLANTS' CHALLENGE TO THE BALLOT SUMMARY IS BOTH</u> UNTIMELY AND WITHOUT BASIS.

Article **X**, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution was adopted by the voters of the State of Florida during the general elections held in November, 1994. Although its effective date was July 1, 1995, as of the time of its adoption in November 1994 it became part of the Florida Constitution and thus the native law of the State of Florida. In this action, filed in June 1995, more than eight (8) months after the adoption of Article **X**, Section 16 by the voters of the State of Florida, Appellants seek to have this Court revisit the issue of sufficiency of the ballot summary through which the voters of the State of Florida adopted Article **X**, Section 16. As is shown by substantial authority in the State of Florida, the challenge is untimely.

In their arguments, Appellants have cited a number of legal authorities which speak to the proposition that ballot summaries for <u>proposed</u> amendments and referendums can be challenged in the courts of the State of Florida. Without exception, the authorities cited by Appellants relate to proposed amendments to the Constitution of the State of Florida and deal with circumstances where the proposed Constitutional Amendment and ballot summary relating thereto, were challenged and dealt with <u>prior</u> to the general election and adoption by the voters of the State of Florida of such an amendment. Accordingly, these authorities are not on point. This Court should not visit the ballot summary and issues regarding its propriety.

Significantly, and conspicuous by its omission from the Initial Brief of Appellants, this is not the first time this issue has been dealt with by this Court. In <u>Sylvester v. Tindall</u>, **18** So. 2d 892 (Fla.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The ballot summary was approved by the Florida Supreme Court in response to a request by the Attorney General in June 1993--<u>Advisory Opinion-Limited Marine Net Fishing</u>, 620 So. 2d 997 (Fla. **1993**).

1944) the Court dealt with the issue of the adoption by the voters of the 1942 amendment which added Article IV, Section 30 to the Florida Constitution. The omission of this case from Appellants' Initial Brief is even more conspicuous when it is understood that the subject matter of Sylvester dealt with the constitutional amendment creating the Florida Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission as a constitutional entity, and further the propriety of the adoption of rules and regulations by such Commission which banned commercial fishing and net fishing in the fresh water bodies of the State of Florida. In Sylvester, Justice Brown writing for the Court stated:

"While it is true that the procedure set forth in Section I of Article XVII is mandatory and should be followed, (citations omitted), this court has recognized the almost universal rule that once an amendment is duly proposed and is actually published and submitted to a vote of the people and by them adopted without any question having been raised prior to the election as to the methods by which the amendment gets before them. the effect of a favorable vote by the people is to cure defects in the form of the submission, It was because of the recognition of this rule in the case of West v. State, 50 Fla. 154, **39** So. 412 (Fla. 1905), that Governor Gilchrist, (citations omitted), obtained an injunction against the Secretary of State to prevent the latters publication of an initiative and referendum proposal that was then been published upon the ground that the legislature had not proposed the amendment in accordance with the Constitutional provision. This question is very ably discussed in opinion written for this Court by Mr. Justice Davis in the case of State ex rel Landis v. Thompson, 120 Fla. 860, 163 So. 270."

#### Sylvester at 895. (emphasis supplied)

The Court recognized that perhaps, in a hypothetically particularly egregious situation, that there might be a basis to depart from such a rule. The Court continued, however,

"But in view of our own decisions, above cited, we are satisfied that if there **was** any irregularity in the form of the ballot with reference to the amendment now before us, it was not a serious one and was cured by the adoption of the amendment by the people at the general election in November, 1942."

#### Sylvester at 896.

а

The case of <u>Sylvester</u>, and the authorities cited therein, are controlling in this instance. The very issue raised by <u>Sylvester</u> was **a** contention that the form of the ballot was not sufficient to put the electorate on notice as to just what they were voting upon. <u>Sylvester</u> at 895. That is the thrust of the major points raised by Appellants in their Complaint and in this appeal. Interestingly, nearly identical arguments were raised in <u>Sylvester</u>. While FCA certainly does not concede that the ballot summary was insufficient or deficient in any way, assuming, arguendo that such deficiency or insufficiency existed, it was cured when the voters of the State of Florida adopted it, without challenge.<sup>2</sup>

Plaintiffs have offered no single authority within the State of Florida or without that speaks to the proposition that this Court has authority and jurisdiction to visit the propriety of the amendment process after such an amendment has taken place and become a part of the Florida Constitution. On the other hand, as shown by <u>Sylvester</u> in the authorities cited therein, there is substantial authority which speaks to and supports the proposition that this Court should not undertake such an analysis as they have been invited to do by Appellants.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Appellants infer that the public notice of the Supreme Court's advisory opinion consideration was not sufficient to allow them to challenge the initiative summary. As pointed out by their Memoranda filed with the Trial Court they could have challenged it by separate action prior to the election but chose not do so.

## 11. ARTICLE X. SECTION 16 IS NOT VIOLATIVE OF ANY PROVISION OF THE FLORIDA OR FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

The next argument advanced by Appellants is that Article **X**, Section **16** is violative of Florida and Federal due process clauses because it **is** to violates protected property and liberty interests; is arbitrary and oppressive; and deprives Plaintiffs of the economically viable use of their property. Viewed under the body of law which has existed both in this country and under English common law for centuries, Appellants are quite simply, wrong.

The state has a sovereign right, and a consequent sovereign duty, in regard to this matter of game and fish conservation, <u>Svlvester</u> at **898**.

"There is a real distinction and difference between the right of the state in its lands and personal property and its right in fish in the public waters of the state. In its proprietary property, it has absolute rights. In fish and the public waters the state has a sovereign right primarily and essentially of preservation, conservation, and regulation for the people of the state, whose right is to take fish from the public waters subject to the regulations imposed by the state for the benefit of the people of the state. People of the state may take fish from the public waters unless forbidden by law. They may not legally take proprietary property of the State unless authorized to do so by due course of law."

State v. Stoutamire, 131 Fla. 698, 179 So, 730, 733 (emphasis supplied). The Florida **Supreme** Court has long recognized that the principles regarding the fish and water wildlife of the State of Florida are coincidental and synonymous with those laws regulating wild animals on the dry land areas of the State of Florida.

Under the common law of England the title to animals ferae naturae or game is in the sovereign, for the use and benefit of the people; the killing or taking and **use** of the game being subject to governmental control and regulation for the general good. The power to control and regulate the killing and use of game was vested in the colonial governments of America and passed with the title to game in its

natural condition to the several states as they became sovereigns, for the use and benefit of all people of the states, respectively, subject to any provision of the Federal Constitution that may be applicable to such control and regulation. The Constitution of the state does not forbid the passage of special or local laws upon the subject of game, and it contains no express provision relative to game; therefore the legislature may by a duly enacted law make any provision within its discretion for the preservation and conservation of the game in the state for the use and benefit of the people of the state, by regulating the taking or killing and use of certain or all kinds of game in any part of the state and during any periods, for such laws do not deny to anyone having rights in the premises to due process of law or the equal protection of the laws that are guaranteed to all persons by the state and federal constitutions.

#### Harner v. Galloway, 58 Fla. 255, 51 So. 226, 228.

The authorities of states to make such regulations has been recognized and approved by the United States Supreme Court.

The authority of the state to regulate and control the common property in game is well established. Greer v. Connecticut, 161 U.S. 519, and cases cited at page **528** (16 S.Ct. 600, 604, 40 L.Ed. 793). These and many other cases show that the state owns, or has power to control, the game and fish within its borders, not absolutely or as proprietor or for its own use or benefit but in its sovereign capacity as representative of the people. In Greer v. Connecticut, the Court, speaking through Mr. Justice White, said, (161 U.S. at page 529, 16 S.Ct. 604): "Whilst the fundamental principles upon which the common property in game rests have undergone no change the development of free institutions has led to the recognition of the fact that the power control lodged in the State resulting from this common ownership, is to be exercised, like all other powers of government as a trust for the benefit of the people, and not as a prerogative for the advantage of the government, as distinct from the people, or for the benefit of private individuals as distinguished from the public good."

#### <u>Svlvester</u> at 898-899.

The key flaw in Appellants' argument here is that the restrictions imposed by Article X, Section 16 are drawn from the power of the State to regulate and protect those resources. This

authority is part of the Constitutional grant of power to the state and the rights of the Appellants such as they are, are subject to its proper exercise. In speaking to the propriety of the amendment which created the Florida Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission and in analyzing further, that the Commission's authority to adopt by regulation, prohibitions of the use of any nets for the taking of fresh water fish species, this Court stated "we have no doubt whatever of the right of the people to adopt this amendment to our Florida Constitution, It does not violate or come in conflict with any provision of the Federal Constitution, and certainly not that provision of the Federal Constitution which guarantees a republican form of government to every state." Sylvester at 899. Accordingly, any argument that Article X, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution violates other provisions of the Florida Constitution or the due process and equal protection provisions of the Federal Constitution is without merit. If, as Appellants concede, these regulations could be accomplished by statute, it can unquestionably be done through the Florida Constitution.

#### 111. NO FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT OF APPELLANTS HAS BEEN INFRINGED.

In their Initial Brief, Appellants have taken the position, inferentially, that Article X, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution improperly infringes upon fundamental rights of the Appellants. This contention is inaccurate. Article I of the current Florida Constitution is entitled Declaration of Rights. (Florida Constitution Article I.) Foremost in the present Florida Constitution, as in constitutions of other states, is a bill of rights entitled the Declaration of Rights, which sets forth the fundamental rights and privileges of persons or of the people collectively, The Declaration of Rights constitutes a limitation upon the powers of each and all of the branches of state government and was adopted primarily for the purpose of guaranteeing to the people certain inalienable rights and for the protection of the people against the arbitrary exercise of power by government. See State ex rel Davis v Stuart at 97 Fla P. 69, 120 So, 335 (1929); Maxcev v. Mavo, 103 Fla. 552, 139 So. 12 I (1931); Boynton v State, 64 So. 2d 536 (Fla 1953).

The Declaration of Rights specifically enumerates certain fundamental rights of the people which include the right to trial by jury, freedom of religion, freedom of speech and press, the right to assemble and petition the government, the right to a remedy for injuries, to bear arms, to reasonable bail, to writ of habeas corpus, the right to work, to presentment or indictment by a grand jury, and the right of an accused to appear and defend in person, to confront witnesses, to have compulsory process to procure witnesses on one's behalf, and to a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county where the crime was committed, The Declaration of Rights also provides that no person may be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law. Florida Constitution Article I. Section 9. It is this latter statement in Article I, Section 9, that Appellants argue serves the basis for an invalidation of Article X, Section 16 of the same constitution.

As conceded by Appellants, reasonable limitations may be imposed upon such fundamental rights, but they may not be limited to such an extent as to amount to a nullity. Gibson v. Florida Legislative Investigative Committee. 126 So. 2d 129 (Fla. 1960). The liberty right confirmed in Article I, Section 9, has been interpreted as meaning the right to freely pursue any livelihood or avocation, and for that purpose to enter into all contracts which may be proper and necessary and essential, subject only to the valid restrains on individual action which may be exacted under the police power of the state. Riley v Sweat, 110 Fla. 362, 149 So, 48 (1933). It is the absence of arbitrary restraint, rather than immunity from reasonable regulations and prohibitions imposed in the public welfare which are protected. See Southern Utilities Company v. Palatka, 86 Fla. 583, 99 So. 236 (1923); <u>affirmed</u> 268 U.S. 232, 69 L.Ed. 930, 45 S.Ct. 488. Thus, the personal liberty guaranteed by the state and the federal constitution is not an absolute right, but is subject to regulation by law when the common good or common decency requires it. See Neisel v. Moran, 80 Fla. 98, 85 So. 346 (1919); Whitaker v. Parsons, 80 Fla. 352, 86 So. 247 (1920); Mairs v. Peters, 52 So. 2d 793 (Fla. 1951). Restated, governmental regulations, including constitutional provisions, are valid when they afford due process in equal protection and do not violate some specific organic provision, even though they may, in effect, deprive individuals of life, liberty, and property to accomplish the purposes for which the constitution was adopted. Whitaker v. Parsons, infra. While Appellants have inferred that Article X, Section 16 is improperly arbitrary, no facts in the record or body of law has been offered to support that argument. Thus, it fails.

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